2005

Leon J. White v. Jerry Randall : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j)(2004) and Rules 3, 4, and 42 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the trial court err in relying on certain maps that it located through its own research, and that were not introduced as evidence at trial?

Standard of Review: The issue of whether it was legal error for the trial court to rely on certain maps that it located through its own research, and that were not introduced at trial, is a legal issue that is reviewed for correctness. See Bradley v. Payson City Corp., 2003 UT 16, ¶ 9, 70 P.3d 47; State ex rel. A.C.C., 2002 UT 22, ¶ 12, 44 P.3d 708.

2. Did the trial court err in allowing Randall to obliterate the historic water delivery system, including the total destruction of the holding pond and the ditches that delivered water to White's property, and in substituting an alternative system crafted by the trial court?

Standard of Review: The trial court's findings of fact are reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. See Alta Indus. Ltd. v. Hurst, 846 P.2d 1282, 1286 (Utah 1993). Its conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness. State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994).

3. Does Utah law allow a recovery of attorney's fees and costs as an element of a punitive damage award?

Standard of Review: The issue of whether attorney's fees and costs may be recovered under Utah law as an element of a punitive damage award is a legal issue that is reviewed for correctness. See Bradley v. Payson City Corp., 2003 UT 16, ¶ 9, 70 P.3d 47; State ex rel. A.C.C., 2002 UT 22, ¶ 12, 44 P.3d 708.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Leon J. White ("White") filed this lawsuit on August 29, 2003, requesting that appellee Jerry Randall ("Randall") be required to restore the pond and ditches destroyed by him, and that he be enjoined from threatening to shoot White or members of White's family and from shooting animals. White also asked for an award of punitive damages (R. at 1-5).

At a hearing on White's Motion for an Order to Show Cause on September 24, 2003, the trial court did not have time to take testimony and instead set the case for trial (R. at 31, 272). The trial commenced on October 9, 2003, and was concluded on November 26, 2003 (R. at 36-37, 41-46, 269-270), at which time the trial court heard arguments of counsel and made preliminary findings with respect only to the foal and the alleged loss of chickens (R. at 45).

The trial court requested that counsel submit proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law by January 23, 2004 (R. at 45). Due to problems getting copies of the CD's and audio tapes from the Clerk's office that were ordered by both counsel, White's

counsel requested two extensions and submitted proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on March 5, 2004 (R. at 53-64, 65-77).

Randall filed a Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, which White opposed (R. at 78-99). More than six months later, on September 14, 2004, the trial court, having been provided an unofficial transcript of the trial, and having listened to the trial testimony, approved and entered the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law submitted by White (R. at 105-115). On September 30, 2004, the trial court entered the Judgment submitted by White notwithstanding Randall's Objection to the Proposed Judgment, a Second Motion to Strike Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Third Motion to Alter, Amend or Supplement Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that had been filed on September 27, 2004 by Randall (R. at 117-155).

Almost six months later, following inquiries to the Clerk's office, at a further hearing on April 4, 2005, the case was again argued to the trial court and additional documents were requested by the court (R. at 229-231).

On July 26, 2005, Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were entered by the trial court and on September 19, 2005, a Judgment was entered, neither of which were consistent with prior rulings of the trial court (R. at 238-247, 254-56).

White filed his Notice of Appeal on October 13, 2005 (R. at 262-63).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

White's Purchase of Land and Water Rights

1. In July 1995, appellant Leon J. White purchased a 16-acre parcel of land together with an existing well and one share of stock in the Indianola Irrigation Company ("Irrigation Company") from Kaziah May Hancock ("Hancock") and her husband Ivan Douglas Hancock (R. at 269, pp. 6-8).

2. In early November 1995, some three months later, White purchased from the Hancocks an additional 10-acre parcel together with an additional 10 shares of stock in the Indianola Irrigation Company (R. at 269, p. 9).

3. The acquired parcels consisted of flat irrigated farmland and a hill located in the northeast corner upon which White intended to, and later did, build a home (R. at 269, pp. 9-10).

Hancock's Purchase and Use of the Property

4. The land and water rights held by Hancock at the time of the sale to White in 1995, including those sold to White, were purchased by her in 1988. Following acquisition of the land and water rights, she built a log home on the hill and devoted the balance to farming and livestock grazing (R. at 269, pp. 81-82).

Water Delivery System to White Property

5. A pond was located on the 11-acre parcel still owned by Hancock (the "Pond") after the sale to White. The Pond had been used by Hancock and her predecessor's lessee,

Don Tibbs (“Tibbs”), for collection of spring runoff and to collect and deliver water that came through an existing ditch from the Irrigation Company system upstream for downstream irrigation of adjacent crop land, including the property later sold to White (R. at 269, pp. 10-11, 447-48). The Pond had been destroyed by floods that overran the property in the summer of 1983 and was reconstructed and enlarged by Tibbs in the 1983-85 time period with a grant from the U.S. Soil Conservation Service (R. at 269, pp. 191-92).

6. Following its enlargement, the Pond dike reached a height of 10-12 feet and was equipped with a pipe outlet which featured a valve to control the outflow from the Pond (R. at 269, pp. 192-93). After exiting the Pond, the water entered a ditch that delivered the water in a westerly direction to the property sold to White and then around the base of the hill on that property to flood irrigate the flat crop land that extended on west to U.S. Highway 89 (R. at 269, p. 10).

7. At the time of the sale to White, he and Hancock walked the property and she showed him how the irrigation system worked; how the water came through a ditch to the Pond and then flowed in another ditch from the Pond to the White property. Hancock assured White that he would be able to continue to enjoy the permanent system of the ditches and the Pond to get water to his property, just the same as she had used them since 1988 and the same as they had been used before that (R. at 269, pp. 13-16). In fact, in 1988, Don Tibbs showed Hancock how the system worked; how to get water from the Pond to the Condley land that she later conveyed to White (R. at 269, p. 105).

8. Hancock and White understood and agreed that he was to have a permanent easement in the existing system of ditches and the Pond to receive, store and use his water (R. at 269, pp. 13-16, 96-97, 452-53).

9. That system, which had been in existence and in use for a number of years before 1988 (R. at 13), was not changed during her ownership and was unchanged when White received title to his property and thereafter (R. at 269, pp. 105, 447-48).

10. White and Hancock both testified that there was no other means of delivery of water to the White property (R. at 269, pp. 17, 447-48).

11. Based upon this understanding and agreement the sale was closed and White began at that time and thereafter to take his water through that system, which remained unchanged, to flood irrigate his crop land, and he continued to do so until Randall destroyed the Pond in July of 2003 (R. at 269, pp. 12-13, 16-18).

12. In 1998, Hancock sold the remaining 11-acre parcel with the home and a culinary well right to Randall (R. at 269, pp. 18-19). Randall purchased no stock in the Irrigation Company and, other than the well permit, has never owned any other water rights (R. at 269, p. 361).

13. According to Hancock, she advised Randall or his real estate agent at the time of the sale to him of the then ongoing use by White of the irrigation system. She testified that, in response to an objection by Randall that the Pond was of no benefit to him, she reduced the purchase price from \$130,000 to \$125,000 (R. at 269, pp. 448-450).

14. Randall walked the property when he bought it, walked around the Pond, saw that the water discharged from the Pond into a ditch that “went down to the White place” and “around the brow of the hill . . . toward the northwest . . . the same one that’s there today . . . the one that he’s [White’s] used to irrigate the property to the west” (R. at 269, pp. 366-67).

Randall’s Interference with White’s Water Rights

15. In the two or three-year period prior to 2003, White would at times find that the water was not flowing from the Pond because someone had shut off the valve. When this occurred, White would go to the Pond and open the valve. This interruption of the flow became more frequent in the 2002 and 2003 period (R. at 269, p. 19).

16. In the early 2000 period, White “noticed a new ditch being dug around the pond” (R. at 269, pp. 20-21). Upon making inquiry to Randall, White was told, “That’s the ditch we was going to have to start taking our water from.” White responded by stating that “[i]t’s illegal to try to change any ditches or the way water comes without getting authorization from everybody down below you” (*Id.*). White tried to be polite and tried to talk to Randall about this in a peaceful manner but Randall became angry and told White that he was not going to store White’s “blankety blank water” (*Id.*). White refused to change his water delivery and continued to use the Pond and the ditches to and from the Pond just as he and as Hancock and Tibbs had used them before.

17. In May of 2003, White again found the flow had stopped again and upon inspecting the valve found that it had been turned off and that a lock had been installed to prevent the valve from being opened (R. at 269, p. 21). White testified:

A. So I -- we undid the locks and that, and we're taking the valves off so he can't sit there and keep turning them off, . . . because I'm the only one that should be getting the water, because I had the shares of water and not him. So I -- we was taking the valves off, and all of a sudden he comes down.

Q. Now, did he have any water shares?

A. Mr. Randall didn't have any water shares, irrigation water shares.

Q. Okay, go ahead.

A. So Mr. Randall come down, and he starts confronting us about that, and telling us to get off of his property and that. I told him at that time, I says, "You know, this is the irrigation ditch. You know, we have -- there's a right-of-way through here that we, you know, take our water and get our water. We have that right. Why would you lock the gate?

* * *

. . . because I had no other way to get my water.

So he indicated to me then -- again he told me he ain't gonna store my water and that. We talked about a few other things, you know, because I -- I tried to calm him, . . .

* * *

He didn't want to talk about stuff. Like he turned to my boy, and he goes, "And this little son-of-a --" to my boy -- "shot at me." To me, when he brought that up, because there was nothing -- there was no reason for me to bring that up. I think he was trying to get me, you know, mad or something. To call my boy that and in front of me, was a very insult and that.

I said to him, "Jerry, he wasn't even the one over in the field, you know, shooting," you know, that he was indicating that they was shooting in the field and shot at him. He wasn't even the one.¹

So that confrontation got over; and he started to go up the hill and that. Then he turned and told -- and said to me the next time I'd be talking to him, he'd be talking to me with a gun. I said to him, "So you're threatening to shoot me?" He goes, "No, I'm not threatening to shoot. I'm telling you I'm going to return fire."

I goes, "I've never done nothing to you. I've never done a thing to you. I've never shot at you." I've never tried to do anything, tried to make his life miserable in any way.

So me and my boy, we left, and about a week later -- well, he did threaten me right then and there, too, that he was going to not store my water anymore. He was going to tear (inaudible) the pond out.

(R. at 269, pp. 22-24). This testimony was not disputed by Randall.

18. White again continued to take his water turn in the same way as before (R. at 269, p. 24).

19. On July 3, 2003, without further discussion with or notice to White, a contractor employed by Randall leveled and obliterated the Pond and the ditch (R24-25), thereby destroying White's only means of receiving, storing or using his water rights. As a result, he was unable to irrigate his crop lands for the balance of the 2003 season or the 2004 and 2005 seasons (R. at 269, pp. 24-26).

The Alleged Shooting Incident

20. Randall alleged that White's son fired a gun at him (R. at 269, pp. 135).

¹White's son was not even in the area when the supposed shot was fired (R. at 269, pp. 136-37).

21. On December 2, 2002, Sanpete County Deputy Sheriff Gary Larsen was called by Randall to investigate a claim that he had been shot at and he had “heard a round go over his head.” Randall believed “it was Mr. White’s son” who had shot the round (R. at 269, pp. 151-54).

22. Larsen measured only part way (“over 1000 feet”) to where the shots had been fired, which from where he measured, “was still quite a ways out.” He testified that the shots were taken far beyond 600 feet, the distance from any residence that a firearm cannot be discharged under state law (R. at 269, pp. 154).

23. The second witness called by Randall to support his claim was a supposed expert, Rick Allshouse, who claimed to have been at Randall’s home and heard the shot go by (R. at 269, p. 259). He gave his opinion that the shot was made from a distance of 800-900 yards (2,400-2,700 feet) by a .22 caliber rifle and that the round could have ricocheted off an object before going over his head (R. at 269, p. 259-260, 262, 264). He further testified that he could tell the bullet was “tumbling” as it went by within 15 or 20 feet (R. at 269, p. 270). His claim that the gun used was a .22 caliber rifle was based solely on his observation through binoculars from the distance of some 900 yards (R. at 269, p. 265-66). He never saw or ever asked to actually see the firearm involved or to talk to the boys involved (Id.). Neither of the boys involved in this alleged incident were the boy that Randall confronted and accused at the Pond.

24. The gun involved was actually a 12-gauge shotgun in the hands of White's son-in-law, Sam Gonzales, who was hunting rabbits with a friend two fields away from the Randall residence (R. at 269, p. 139).

Randall Shot Dogs Owned by the White Family and Neighbors

25. Deputy Larsen was called on May 10, 2001, by White because his dog had been shot in the stomach by Pamela Randall, appellee's wife, two days earlier. He talked to Mrs. Randall who claimed the dog had one of her chickens down so she shot a .22 rifle to scare it but apparently hit it instead. No claim was made that the dog had killed the chicken or that she had let the Whites know about it (R. at 269, pp. 156-57).

Allegations Involving White's Dog

26. Randall claimed that White's dog had killed a colt sometime earlier, and more than 50 chickens in the 2002 time period. On cross examination, however, Randall testified with respect to the colt that he "assumed" White's dog killed the colt because he had seen it in the corral with the horses in the early morning and "there was quite a bit of confusion" and the colt was "sweated up and lathered up" (R. at 270, pp. 310-11). Randall claimed that later in the afternoon he saw the same dog back in the corral standing over the dying colt (R. at 270, p. 314).

27. Randall testified that he "then went down and confronted Mr. White in regards to the dog chasing the fold [foal] to death," but then backtracked by stating that "I've got to put that on the telephone. I don't remember having gone down and talked face to face." (R.

at 270, pp. 314-15). White told him the foal wasn't killed by his dog, that he had been outside working in the field and yard all day and the dog had been right there by his side all the time, never left his side." Randall then told White "Okay, if that dog comes back on my property, I will shoot it for what it had done to the fold [foal]." (Id.). "I [Randall] told him that I would kill any of the dogs that was threatening and killing my animals" (R. at 270, p. 360).

28. Randall was aware that there were other dogs in the neighborhood and testified that he owned two other dogs at that time (R. at 270, p. 357). He admitted that he did not see White's dog between early morning and his finding the dying foal at the end of the day, did not hear any more barking all day, did not see the dog chase the foal again, did not have the foal examined, took no photos of the dead foal, saw no teeth marks on it, did not see the foal killed, nor did anyone else, and did not report it to the sheriff. He produced no other evidence to show what caused the foal's death (R. at 270, pp. 359-360, 368-69).

29. With respect to the chickens, Randall testified, as noted above, that his wife claimed she saw that White's dog had a chicken down, but did not kill it. Otherwise he admitted on cross examination he made no claim relating to the supposed killing of his chickens before this case was filed over a year later, he took no photos, did not discuss any of the supposed dozens of killed chickens with White, knew of no witnesses to any chicken being killed, saw no other chicken being attacked or killed and never called the sheriff as to any further problems (R. at 270, pp. 371-72).

30. White filed this lawsuit on August 29, 2003 (R. at 262-63).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When White filed this lawsuit on August 29, 2003, all he wanted was to be restored back to the position he was in before Randall unlawfully obliterated his water delivery system. Two and a half years later, and after spending thousands of dollars on legal fees and court costs, White is still without the benefit of his water delivery system.

The Judgment that the trial court entered in this case must be reversed because the trial court committed the following critical errors:

First, the trial court violated the fundamental rule of law that neither a judge nor a jury is permitted to go outside of the evidence presented at trial to make a finding. See Salt Lake City v. United Park City Mines Co., 503 P.2d 850 (Utah 1972). The trial court's actions in researching, locating, modifying and relying upon certain maps that it located through its own independent research, and that were not introduced into evidence at trial, constitutes legal error.

Second, the trial court correctly found that White had an easement across Randall's land. However, the trial court erred when it considered and relied upon certain maps that it located through its own research, and that were not presented at trial, to craft an alternate water delivery system. If White was entitled to an easement by implication pursuant to Adamson v. Brockbank, 185 P.2d 264 Utah (1947), then the trial court should have granted White an easement in the entire water delivery system as it existed historically. It was legal

error for the trial court to exclude the Pond and other aspects of the historic water delivery system.

For these reasons, the Judgment of the trial court must be reversed and the Court should instruct the trial court to enter judgment consistent with its initial Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law, which required Randall to pay the costs of restoring the water delivery system. Additionally, as part of its decision remanding the case, the Court should affirmatively instruct the trial court that it should award White his attorney's fees and costs as an element of punitive damages, because punitive damages are warranted.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RELYING ON CERTAIN MAPS THAT IT LOCATED THROUGH ITS OWN INDEPENDENT RESEARCH, AND THAT WERE NOT INTRODUCED AS EVIDENCE AT TRIAL.

In its Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law dated July 21, 2005, the trial court relied on certain maps that it located through its own independent research, and that were not introduced into evidence at trial (R. at 238-247) . The trial court's actions in considering and relying on those maps was in direct conflict with the Utah Supreme Court's decision in Salt Lake City v. United Park City Mines Co., 503 P.2d 850 (Utah 1972), and constitutes legal error.

Following the trial in this matter, the trial court scheduled a hearing on the parties' motions to amend the Judgment and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. During that April 4, 2005 hearing, Judge Mower showed counsel certain USGS topographical maps that

he had located through his own independent research. Judge Mower took two of those maps, attached them together and drew the relevant parcels of land on the maps based on the legal descriptions.² (R. at 273, pp. 2-12).

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