2005

Leon J. White v. Jerry Randall : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court should affirm the trial court's decision granting White an easement across Randall's land in the form of a ditch reasonably connected in the space where the pond once was that is equal in length and width to the existing ditch which conveyed water both to and from the now non-existent pond (R. at 246-247). The easement includes White's right to "trespass on Mr. Randall's land for reasonable ditch maintenance and for controlling the flow of water" (R. at 247).

The easement ordered by the trial court should be upheld because: 1) the trial court's referencing of USGS maps did not go outside the evidence presented at trial because the maps were based on maps and legal descriptions of property submitted to the court during trial; 2) White failed to object to the use of the maps when they were presented to counsel on April 4, 2005 and thus waived his right to bring the issue up on appeal; 3) the trial court may take judicial notice of the maps as an adjudicative fact "capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned"; 4) the ditch to be constructed is the least burdensome and

most reasonable easement required under the circumstances; and 5) the reconstruction of the pond would promote unlawful storage of water, as neither Randall, White, Spencer nor Hancock ever owned any rights to divert or store water.

White has failed to marshal the evidence necessary to refute the findings of fact made by the trial Court regarding damages for his dogs killing Randall's chickens.

This court should also uphold the order that the parties pay their own attorney's fees (R. 247) by finding that: 1) Utah courts do not award attorney's fees unless they are expressly provided for by statute or contract; and 2) punitive damages may not be granted in this case because the conduct was not tortious, reprehensible, and did not willfully and maliciously violate the right of another.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING MUST BE UPHELD BECAUSE THE USE OF U.S. GEOLOGIC SURVEY MAPS WERE PROPER AND DID NOT VIOLATE ANY RULE OF LAW

The trial court did not error in referencing certain U.S. Geologic Survey maps in its findings of fact because: 1) the maps included only information already presented to the court at trial; 2) White waived its right to raise this issue on appeal by failing to object to the maps when they were presented by the trial court during a motion hearing; and 3) the trial court did not abuse its discretion in taking judicial notice of the maps. Furthermore, even if the trial court did error in referencing the maps, it was harmless error because the findings of fact were inferable from other evidence presented at trial and the evidence demands the same judgment.

Whether the maps used in the trial court's findings of fact included only information already presented to the court at trial is a question of fact to be reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. *See State v. Vincent*, 883 P.2d 278, 281 (Utah 1994). The issues of whether the court may use and take judicial notice of maps it located on its own and whether White waived his right to raise this issue on appeal are questions of law to be reviewed for correctness. *See Savage v. Educators Ins. Co.*, 908 P.2d 862, 864-865 (Utah 1995).

- i. The trial court did not go outside of the evidence presented at trial to make a finding of fact because the U.S. Geologic Survey maps were assembled by using maps submitted by counsel and legal descriptions of the property presented as evidence at trial*

On appeal, White contends that the trial court based its ruling on independent research and facts not in evidence, thereby constituting legal error. The trial court used a map computer program to construct comprehensive, easy-to-read maps of the property in question. These maps simply re-depicted those maps and legal descriptions of the property already submitted into evidence and thus did not constitute facts not submitted into evidence. During trial, both White and Randall submitted to the court various maps, accounts of the geographical features, and legal descriptions of the property in question. Defendant's Exhibit 1 is a plat map of the property and contains numerous map coordinates as well as an outline of the property owned by White and Randall—comparable to some of the maps in the trial court's findings of fact. Defendant's Exhibits 2, 3, 9, 16 were all admitted into evidence at trial and all set forth the legal description or geographical location of the property involved.

Further, at the trial court's request, Randall submitted a map with his Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that contains all of the contour lines, locations of water sources, and coordinates used by and highlighted on the maps presented by the trial court. Randall also submitted two scaled diagrams depicting the relative location of the parcels.

The trial court used the maps submitted to the trial court along with evidence containing legal descriptions of the property to construct a cohesive picture of the geographical features of the property in question (R. 273, pp. 9-10). The maps contain no information or depiction not previously presented to the court and seen by both parties. The trial court even explained to those present at the motion hearing a step-by-step account of how he constructed the maps used in his findings of fact (R. 273, pp. 9-13). The Court invited the attorneys to object and neither did.

In *Salt Lake City v. United Park City Mines Company*, 503 P.2d 850 (Utah 1972), Salt Lake City brought suit to quiet title to the flow of water from a tunnel constructed by the defendant, which the city argued reduced the flow of a creek. On appeal, the Utah Supreme Court reversed the trial court's decision because the judge used a book not in evidence to produce nine exhibits for his consideration which were never seen by counsel at trial. *Id.* at 852. In addition, the judge used a "proper slope" as derived by a student using a computer at the University of Utah which was "at variance with that used by the City in calculating the base line of a double mass curve used to compare variance in comparative stream flows." *Id.* The court further explained that because "[t]he computer gave the judge a slope not in accord with the evidence given by the experts; yet he used

this slope to decide that the exhibits of the City were in error. . . ” the trial court went outside the evidence in making its finding. *Id.*

In *Salt Lake City v. United City Mines Company*, the trial court’s exhibits and outside calculations of the proper slope directly contradicted the evidence submitted at trial. Such was not the case here. The trial court’s use of computer-generated maps did not contradict any expert testimony given at trial. When White testified that the ditch and the pond was the only way the water could get to White’s property, he explained that “[t]here’s a highway on one side of us; and we’re a little higher than the rest of the land. So that would be the only way we could get [the water]” (R. at 269, p. 17). White’s testimony corresponds with the trial court’s findings of fact and provides a basis for the trial court’s findings that “[t]he only way water can possibly flow from the pond onto the NE corner of White’s property is for it [to] flow below the 5,940 contour line and above the 5,920 contour line,” and that “[i]t should be physically and geographically possible for water to flow across Mr. Randall’s property and onto Mr. White’s property” (R. 238-246).

Furthermore, though both White and Hancock testified that the only means by which water could get to White’s land was through the ditch and the pond, they were indisputably limiting the scope of the opinions to means of water delivery to “right now”—given the current conditions of the property and not taking into consideration alternative methods (R. 260, 17; R. at 270, p. 428). On cross-examination, White himself acknowledged that taking water from Randall’s pond was not the only way he could get water to his property, for at the very least, he could have connected into the pressurized

system to obtain his water (R. at 270, pp. 427-28). Additionally, Kent Spencer testified that when he owned the property, he used a different canal, called the “meetinghouse wash,” to flood irrigate the land (R. at 269, p. 161). Thus, the trial court’s use of the maps published by the U.S. Geologic Survey did not conflict with any established facts presented during trial.

The trial court complied with the rule that “the findings of all triers of fact, either court or jury, must be *based upon testimony of witnesses or other evidence made a part of the record....*” *Salt Lake City v. United Park City Mines Company*, 503 P.2d 850, 852 (Utah 1972) (emphasis added). The maps included in the trial court’s decision reflect the descriptions of the property as presented by the witnesses and as established by the maps and trust deeds presented by the parties at trial. The trial court used a computer program to synthesize an easy-to-read map of the area—an inference it was capable of making on its own as a result of the maps and property descriptions already submitted to the court.

ii. In failing to object to the trial court’s use of the maps during a motion hearing, White waived his right to appeal the use of such maps

Counsel for both White and Randall were shown the U.S. Geologic Survey maps during a motion hearing held on April 4, 2005. At that hearing, the court showed the parties the topographic maps referred to in its final finding of fact (R. 273, pp. 4-6). In doing so, the judge “invite[d] [counsel] to challenge me on what I’ve done, because if I’ve made mistakes, I don’t want them to be the basis for a decision in this case. So if that quit claim deed is something that’s in your evidence, and I’ve got the wrong point of beginning, or if I’ve done something wrong with the meets and bounds description, then I

want to know about it" (R. 273, p. 10). The judge talked to the parties in detail about the maps he presented at that hearing (and later used in his opinion), and at no time did counsel for White make any objection (R. 273, pp. 3-18). In direct contrast, counsel for White did object later on during the hearing to the trial court's asking Randall to explain the "meetinghouse wash" (R. 273, p. 32).

The Utah Supreme Court has stated that for an issue to be raised on appeal, a party must make a timely objection to the claimed error:

We noted in *State v. Holgate* that, "[a]s a general rule, claims not raised before the trial court may not be raised on appeal." 2000 UT 74, ¶ 11, 10 P.3d 346. We held further "that the preservation rule applies to every claim, including constitutional questions, unless a defendant can demonstrate that 'exceptional circumstances' exist or 'plain error' occurred." *Id.* at 350. In *State v. Emmett*, 839 P.2d 781, 783-84 (Utah 1992), we wrote that "our case law establishes that the doctrine of waiver has application if defendants fail to raise claims at the appropriate time at the trial level, so the judge has an opportunity to rule on the issue." Other cases note that in order to preserve a claim or an objection for appellate review, the defendant must raise a timely or contemporaneous claim or objection. *See State v. Dibello*, 780 P.2d 1221, 1226-27 (Utah 1989) (explaining that issue not properly preserved for appeal where defense fails to make objection to remarks at trial)
State v. Cram, 46 P.3d 230, 232 (Utah 2002).

The Utah Supreme Court then went on to explain the policy considerations behind requiring a contemporaneous objection to preserve a claimed error for appeal:

The two policy reasons for the preservation rule are, first, to give the trial court an opportunity to "address the claimed error, and if appropriate, correct it," and second, that "a defendant should not be permitted to forego making an objection with the strategy of enhanc[ing] the defendant's chances of acquittal and then, if that strategy fails, ... claim[ing] on appeal that the Court should reverse." As we said in *State v. Brown*, "defendants are thus not entitled to both the benefit of not objecting at trial and the benefit of objecting on appeal.

State v. Cram, 46 P.3d 230, 233 (Utah 2002), *citing Holgate*, 10 P.3d 346 (Utah 2000) and *State v. Brown*, 948 P.2d 337, 343 (Utah 1997).

In failing to object to the use of the maps presented by the trial court during the motion hearing, White waived his right to raise the issue on appeal. Despite being prompted by the trial court to challenge the maps if he was making an error or mistake, White did not voice any objection to the maps at any point during the hearing. It was not until the trial court made its ruling with which White was not satisfied that any claim of error was made regarding the trial court's use of the maps.

iii. The court may take judicial notice of the maps published by the United States Geologic Survey used by the trial court

White wrongly argues that the trial court cannot “go outside of the evidence presented at trial to make a finding” (A.B. at 13). Utah has adopted Federal Rule of Evidence 201, which states that a court can take judicial notice of adjudicative facts, whether requested or not, that are either “(1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) *capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.*” Utah R. Evid. § 201(b)-(c)(emphasis added).

In alleging that the trial court improperly referred to certain maps published by United States Geologic Survey in making its findings of fact, White has not challenged the accuracy of the maps or the validity of the source. Furthermore, several Utah courts have taken judicial notice of geographic facts. (See *e.g.*, *State v. Bailey*, 3 Utah 2d. 254, 255 (1955) (taking judicial notice that Panguitch is located in Garfield county); *Esnernia v. Overland Moving Co.*, 115 Utah 519, 523 (1949) (taking judicial notice of the towns

between Elko, Nevada and point of accident.)) In *U.S. v. Burch*, the court noted that “official government maps are generally an acceptable source for taking judicial notice.” 169 F.3d 666 (D. Colo. 1999).

Courts in other states adopting similar language as is in section 201(b) of the Federal Rules of Evidence have taken judicial notice of maps and surveys: Judicial notice of a survey map was taken in Florida (*Graves v. Florida*, 587 So.2d 633 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1991)) and California has taken judicial notice of a current system of surveys in the state, government surveys of public lands, and official maps. *South Shore Land Co. v. Petersen*, 226 Cal. App. 2d 725, 745 (Cal. App. 1964). Thus the trial court was within its discretion to take judicial notice of the United States Geologic Survey maps as “sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned.” Utah R. Evid. § 201(b).

The court need not wait for a party to introduce a fact into evidence before it can take judicial notice of that fact. “*Except for those matters of which the court may take judicial notice*, the deliberations of the trial judge are limited to the record made before him or her” 89 C.J.S. *Trial* § 1018 (2005) (emphasis added). The U.S. Supreme Court has upheld this principle in *New Mexico v. Texas* by affirming the special master’s finding that “the Salazar-Diaz Survey was corroborated by certain of the maps of the surveys made for the Joint Boundary Commissions and the War Department . . . and that all these maps—as well as certain other maps that had not been introduced into evidence, but of which he thought judicial notice might be taken—sustained the contention of Texas as to the course of the Rio Grande in 1850” *New Mexico v. Texas*, 275 U.S. 279, 298 (1928)(emphasis added). Similarly, the Utah Court of Appeals upheld a trial court’s

taking judicial notice sua sponte of a prior Supreme Court decision that was neither admitted into evidence nor formally brought to the attention of either counsel. *Ringwood v. Foreign Auto Works*, 786 P.2d 1350, 1357 (Utah App. 1990).

The trial court was also well within its discretion to take judicial notice of the maps during a motion hearing following the actual trial because “[j]udicial notice may be taken at any stage of the proceeding.” Utah R. Evid. 201(f). The court’s presentation of the maps during the hearing also gave both parties the opportunity to be heard as to the “propriety of taking judicial notice and the tenor of the matter noticed” as required section (e) of the rule.

iv. Even if the trial court did error by referencing maps, use of such extrinsic evidence is not ipso facto reversible error

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